Supreme Court Case No. S267576

In the Supreme Court

OF THE

State of California

TANIA PULLIAM *Plaintiff and Respondent,*

VS.

TD AUTO FINANCE LLC Defendant and Petitioner.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal For the Second Appellate District Division Five 2nd Civil No. B293435

After An Appeal From the Superior Court of Los Angeles County Hon. Barbara M. Scheper, Judge Case Number BC633169

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT TD AUTO FINANCE LLC

MCGUIREWOODS LLP
TANYA L. GREENE SBN 267975
JAMIE D. WELLS SBN 290827
ANTHONY Q. LE SBN 300660
WELLS FARGO CENTER, SOUTH TOWER
355 S. GRAND AVE., SUITE 4200
LOS ANGELES, CA 90071-3103

ISSUES PRESENTED

The Holder Rule, 16 C.F.R. § 433.2, states: "recovery hereunder by the debtor shall not exceed amounts paid by the debtor hereunder."

1. Does the Holder Rule's limit on "recovery" include and thus cap attorney's fees, as the Court of Appeal held in *Lafferty v. Wells Fargo Bank*, *N.A.* (2018) 25 Cal. App. 5th 398, or exclude and thus allow uncapped attorney's fees, as the Court of Appeal held in this case?

The Federal Trade Commission has interpreted the Holder Rule by stating that "payment that the consumer may recover from the holder—including any recovery based on attorneys' fees—cannot exceed the amount the consumer paid under the contract." Trade Regulation Rule Concerning Preservation of Consumers' Claims and Defenses, 84 Fed. Reg. 18711, 18713 (May 2, 2019).

2. Is the FTC's interpretation entitled to deference so that it controls the meaning of the Holder Rule if the Rule is otherwise ambiguous, as the Court of Appeal held in *Spikener v. Ally Fin., Inc.* (2020) 50 Cal. App. 5th 151, or not, as the Court of Appeal ruled in this case?

INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeal wrongly decided two questions about the scope of the Federal Trade Commission's Holder Rule that have divided this state's appellate courts: (1) whether the Holder Rule limits the amount of attorney's fees a consumer may recover to amounts paid under her loan contract, and (2) whether the FTC's view that the Holder Rule does so limit recovery warrants deference. The Court of Appeal here ruled that the Holder Rule allows uncapped attorney's fees, even those that cause a consumer to recover more than what she paid under her loan contract. In doing so, the Court of Appeal also erred in refusing to give the deference owed to the FTC's contrary interpretation. This Court should confirm that the Holder Rule bars recovery of attorney's fees that exceed amounts paid by a consumer under her loan contract and reverse.

The Holder Rule reflects an obvious compromise. *See* 16 C.F.R. § 433.2. On one hand, the Rule broadens creditor liability. Under the Rule, innocent creditors that "hold" the note on any consumer loan are liable to consumers for the misdeeds of whoever sold the consumer the goods. On the other hand, the Rule balances this expanded liability by *limiting* its scope: "recovery hereunder by the debtor shall not exceed amounts paid by the debtor." *Id.* Without this limit, consumers can sue creditors for far more money than the consumers ever paid under the contract. This risk of liability

would far exceed the economic benefit creditors stand to gain for financing the transaction.

The FTC itself, as well as two published decisions of the California Courts of Appeal, have accepted the delicate balance the Holder Rule strikes. *Lafferty v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.* (2018) 25 Cal. App. 5th 398; Trade Regulation Rule Concerning Preservation of Consumers' Claims and Defenses, 84 Fed. Reg. 18711 (May 2, 2019); *Spikener v. Ally Fin., Inc.* (2020) 50 Cal. App. 5th 151. All three agree that under the Holder Rule, attorney's fees—which often rise to tens or hundreds of thousands of dollars—cannot be "recover[ed]" by consumers from creditors if they "exceed amounts paid" by the consumer under the subject loan. 16 C.F.R. § 433.2.

The Court of Appeal here rejected this correct reading of the Holder Rule. Rather than accept the regulation's plain meaning or accord deference to the FTC's consistent interpretation, the Court of Appeal instead adopted its own purposivist reading of the Holder Rule. In the Court of Appeal's view, "recovery" does not include, and the Rule thus does not limit, attorney's fees. According to the Court of Appeal, an innocent creditor is liable for \$170,000 or more based on a contract under which a consumer spent just \$12,500 on a used car.

The Court of Appeal's interpretation is remarkable because the Holder Rule's plain language makes clear that consumers cannot obtain many times

their spend under a provision that limits "recovery" to "the amount paid." This Court can and should adopt this proper interpretation based on those unambiguous terms alone.

This reading also reflects the Rule's purpose. The FTC designed the Holder Rule to strike a balance: consumers may now recover amounts they paid on a consumer contract, but they may not recover more than those amounts. Reading the Rule to limit attorney's fees ensures this balance. Under this reading, harmed consumers have more protection, but innocent creditors do not face unlimited liability. Indeed, if creditors risked uncapped attorney's fees when financing consumer contracts, they would be less likely to take that risk and finance those contracts. And in Holder Rule actions, blameless creditors would be discouraged from mounting a defense by the threat of paying hundreds of thousands in attorney's fees for a several thousand dollar consumer claim.

The FTC's interpretation of the Rule reflects this view: that the Rule extends liability on the one hand and limits it on the other. The FTC's Rule Confirmation reflects its official position on a matter within the agency's substantive expertise. *See Kisor v. Wilkie* (2019) 139 S. Ct. 2400, 2416–17. It is also the product of the FTC's fair and considered judgment on the issue, one that should come as no surprise to regulated parties given the many courts that had reached the same conclusion and the FTC's earlier endorsement of those decisions. *See id.* at 2417–18. Should this Court view

the Rule as ambiguous, therefore, it should defer to the FTC's view that the Rule limits attorney's fees.

This Court has two routes by which to reach the same conclusion: the Holder Rule does not allow a consumer to recover attorney's fees greater than the amount she paid under her contract. Whichever course it takes, this Court should arrive at the same end: it should reverse the Court of Appeal and remand for a reevaluation of the fee award consistent with the Holder Rule's unambiguous limits on consumer recovery.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. The Holder Rule caps a debtor's "recovery" at "the amounts paid by the debtor" under her credit contract.

The FTC's Holder Rule, 16 C.F.R. § 433.2, addresses consumer credit contracts funded by commercial lenders. *See Lafferty*, 25 Cal. App. 5th at 410. Such contracts involve a consumer buying goods or services from a seller and financing that purchase under a consumer loan contract. The seller often assigns these contracts to third-party creditors. Before the Holder Rule, even if the seller did not perform its contractual obligations, the buyer still had to pay the creditor the amount the buyer owed under the contract, pursuant to the assignment. *See id.* at 410–11.

The Holder Rule changed this system. The Rule, which the FTC promulgated in 1975, makes it unlawful to accept payment on any consumer credit contract that does not have the following provision:

NOTICE

ANY HOLDER OF THIS CONSUMER CREDIT CONTRACT IS SUBJECT TO ALL CLAIMS AND DEFENSES WHICH THE DEBTOR COULD ASSERT AGAINST THE SELLER OF GOODS OR SERVICES OBTAINED PURSUANT HERETO OR WITH THE PROCEEDS HEREOF. RECOVERY HEREUNDER BY THE DEBTOR SHALL NOT EXCEED AMOUNTS PAID BY THE DEBTOR HEREUNDER.

16 C.F.R. § 433.2.

The Holder Rule "is directed at the preservation of consumer claims and defenses." Promulgation of Trade Regulation Rule and Statement of Basis and Purpose, 40 Fed. Reg. 53506, 53524 (Nov. 18, 1975). The buyer maintains all claims and defenses she could assert against the seller and may now assert them against not just the seller but also any creditor holding the contract. *Lafferty*, 25 Cal. App. 5th at 411; *see also* U.S. Fed. Trade Comm'n, Opinion Letter on The Holder Rule, at 2 (May 3, 2012) ("2012 Opinion Letter") ("The Holder Rule protects consumers who enter into credit contracts with a seller of goods or services by preserving their right to assert claims and defenses against any holder of the contract."). As a result, a creditor cannot "collect on a debt for a defective product or deficient service." *Lafferty*, 25 Cal. App. 5th at 411. Meanwhile, the consumer may sue the creditor "for a return of monies paid on account." *Id.*

This new system "reallocate[d] the cost of seller misconduct to the creditor." *Id.* The FTC believed this shift would better protect consumers

than the old system, in which seller misconduct would not necessarily affect the consumer's obligation to pay the debt she incurred under the contract. *Id.*

Under the Holder Rule, therefore, a consumer may (among other options) sue a creditor for a seller's breach. But while extending liability to creditors in this way, the Holder Rule also "expressly constrained" the liability those creditors face. *Id.* at 412. The Rule provided that "recovery hereunder by the debtor shall not exceed amounts paid by the debtor hereunder." 16 C.F.R. § 433.2. Thus, while consumers may sue creditors for sellers' misconduct even if the creditors themselves have done nothing wrong, such lawsuits focus on returning to the consumer only the monies she paid under the contract.

II. The majority of courts apply the Holder Rule's plain terms to limit recovery of attorney's fees.

In the decades since the Holder Rule's enactment, the FTC has consistently described the regulation's language and limitations as "plain" and "unambiguous," and has made clear that courts should apply the Rule's clear terms. 2012 Opinion Letter at 3; see also id. at 1 ("[T]he plain language of the Rule is clear—which FTC staff confirmed in a 1999 opinion letter."). Consistent with this directive, "virtually all" courts to address whether the Rule limits attorney's fees held that the Rule expresses this limitation. See Scott J. Hyman & Tara Mohseni, California Court of Appeal Finds That the FTC Holder Rule Limits A Holder's Liability for A Consumer's Attorneys'

Fees, 72 Consumer Fin. L.Q. Rep. 432, 441 (2018); see also id. at 442–443 (citing Reagans v. Mountain High Coachworks, Inc. (Ohio 2008) 881 N.E.2d 245; Nebraska ex rel. Stenberg v. Consumer's Choice Foods, Inc. (Neb. 2008) 755 N.W.2d 583, 594; Alduridi v. Cmty. Tr. Bank, No. 01A01-9901-CH-00063, 1999 WL 969644, at *12 (Tenn. Ct. App. Oct. 26, 1999); Riggs v. Anthony Auto Sales, Inc. (W.D. La. 1998) 32 F. Supp. 2d 411, 417; Simpson v. Anthony Auto Sales, Inc. (W.D. La. 1998) 32 F. Supp. 2d 405, 410–11.

The FTC cited several such decisions with approval in a 2012 advisory letter addressing whether the Holder Rule limited a consumer's affirmative recovery to situations involving rescission of her contract. *See* 2012 Opinion Letter at 3 & n.7. There, the FTC asserted again that the Holder Rule contains just one limit: recovery may not "exceed amounts paid." *Id.* at 2. And the FTC pointed, with approval, to decisions holding that the Rule's "plain language" limits recovery of attorney's fees to amounts paid, describing these courts as properly applying the Rule's unambiguous terms. *Simpson*, 32 F. Supp. 2d at 410; *Riggs*, 32 F. Supp. 2d at 417; *see also* 2012 Opinion Letter at 3 & n.7.

The first California appellate court to address the Rule's import for attorney's fees followed this majority, FTC-sanctioned approach. In 2018, the Third District Court of Appeal held that the Holder Rule's plain language limits a plaintiff's total recovery, including attorney's fees, to the amount of

money "actually paid by the consumer under the contract." *Lafferty*, 25 Cal. App. 5th at 414. *Lafferty* interpreted the Holder Rule's plain terms to reach this conclusion, reasoning (1) that "recovery" regularly includes all kinds of damages, attorney's fees, and costs, and (2) the phrase "shall not exceed amounts paid by the debtor" limits the broad term "recovery" to include only "those monies actually paid by the consumer under the contract." *Id.* at 413–14. The term "hereunder" clarifies that this "constraint on recovery" applies only to those claims brought under the Holder Rule. *Id.* at 414.

Under Lafferty, "a consumer cannot recover more under the Holder Rule... than what has been paid on the debt." Id. at 414 (emphasis in original). This is true no matter "what kind of a component of the recovery it might be—whether compensatory damages, punitive damages, or attorney fees." Id. A consumer may only "assert uncapped claims against a creditor... if another state or local cause of action" independent of the Holder Rule would support such claims. Id. In Lafferty, therefore, California joined "the overwhelming majority" of courts and the FTC's own approach to its regulation. Hyman & Mohseni, supra, at 441.

III. The FTC interprets its regulation as applying to and capping recovery of attorney's fees.

The year after *Lafferty*, the FTC issued a Rule Confirmation validating the Holder Rule's straightforward limits and *Lafferty*'s application of the same. 84 Fed. Reg. 18711. The FTC issued that confirmation after

requesting and receiving public comments on the Holder Rule, including comments about whether the Rule caps consumer recovery of attorney's fees. *Id.* at 18713. After addressing those comments, the FTC concluded that the Holder Rule does not allow a plaintiff to recover more than what she paid under the contract. *Id.* ("[P]ayment that the consumer may recover from the holder—including any recovery based on attorneys' fees—cannot exceed the amount the consumer paid under the contract.").

According to the FTC, a plaintiff may only recover uncapped attorney's fees "if a federal or state law separately provides for recovery of attorneys' fees independent of" the claims specifically established by the Holder Rule. *Id.* Not only had the Holder Rule always meant this, the FTC confirmed, but the FTC also saw no reason to change this meaning. *See id.*

IV. An appellate court rejects the legislature's effort to duck *Lafferty* and the FTC's Rule Confirmation.

Despite *Lafferty*'s correct reasoning and the FTC's confirmation of the same, California's legislature sought to circumvent both by enacting Civil Code § 1459.5. That statute provides that a plaintiff that prevails under the Holder Rule against a creditor "may claim attorney's fees, costs, and expenses from that defendant to the fullest extent permissible if the plaintiff had prevailed on that cause of action against the seller." The provision's "legislative history makes clear that the Legislature's intent was to reverse the decision in *Lafferty* and restore [what the Legislature viewed as]

California's original interpretation of the Holder Rule" by allowing uncapped attorney's fee awards. *Spikener*, 50 Cal. App. 5th at 160.

In 2020, the First District Court of Appeal found this effort unsuccessful. The *Spikener* court instead agreed with *Lafferty* that the Holder Rule limits *all* recovery, including attorney's fees, to the amount paid on the loan. It reached that conclusion by a different path, however—by assuming without deciding that the Rule is ambiguous, but holding that the FTC's reasonable interpretation warrants deference in the face of any such ambiguity. *Spikener*, 50 Cal. App. 5th at 158–59 (agreeing that *Lafferty*'s view of the Holder Rule was reasonable, then assuming, without deciding, that the Holder Rule could also be read to exclude attorney's fees from "recovery").

Spikener also held that the FTC's interpretation satisfied all of the requirements for Auer deference—the deference owed to an agency's reasonable interpretation of its own, ambiguous regulation. See Kisor, 139 S. Ct. at 2408. The Rule Confirmation "was indisputably the FTC's official position" because the FTC issued it and published it in the Federal Register. Spikener, 50 Cal. App. 5th at 159. Interpreting the Holder Rule fell within the FTC's substantive expertise because the FTC is statutorily authorized to prevent unfair or deceptive acts or practices. Id. And the FTC issued the Rule Confirmation after soliciting and reviewing public comments, meaning the Confirmation reflected "the agency's considered judgment." Id.; see also

Kisor, 139 S. Ct. at 2408 (explaining the deference given to "agencies' reasonable readings of genuinely ambiguous regulations"). ¹

When this appeal arose, therefore, two California appellate courts had construed the Holder Rule to cap attorney's fees. So had most other courts to address the issue, and so had the very agency that promulgated the Rule. Yet the Court of Appeal rejected all of these authorities.

V. The Court of Appeal wrongly permits Respondent to recover from TDAF attorney's fees exceeding the amounts she paid under the contract.

The Court of Appeal here refused to accept the Holder Rule's clear meaning, the FTC's view of the same, and the compelling reasoning of two other California appellate courts. Thus, although the plaintiff had contracted to pay less than \$12,500 for the used car, the court affirmed an attorney's fee award of nearly \$170,000. CT 133, 332. As a result, the fee award against the creditor, TD Auto Finance LLC ("TDAF"), far exceeds "the amounts paid by the debtor" under her contract. 16 C.F.R. § 433.2.

This action arose from the plaintiff's purchase of a Nissan "Certified Pre-Owned" car. Op. 2. The plaintiff bought the car from HNL Automotive,

19

¹The *Spikener* court then addressed California Civil Code § 1459.5, and found it preempted by the Holder Rule. 50 Cal. App. 5th at 162. *Spikener* was correct on this point, but preemption is not presented now based on the posture of this appeal.

Inc. under a retail installment sales contract that contained the Holder Rule notice. Op. 2. TDAF accepted assignment of the sales contract. Op. 3.

When the car turned out not to meet the Nissan Certified Pre-Owned criteria as advertised, the plaintiff sued for breach of implied warranty under California law. *Id.* The jury found for the plaintiff on that claim and awarded damages of \$21,957.25. Op. 4. The plaintiff moved for an award of attorney's fees, as authorized by the Song Beverly Act she sued under. Cal. Civ. Code § 1794(d). Although TDAF argued to the trial court that, under the Holder Rule, it was not liable for fees that far exceeded what the plaintiff paid under her contract, the trial court granted the plaintiff's fee request in full, for \$169,602. Op. 6.

TDAF appealed this final judgment, arguing to the Court of Appeal that the trial court abused its discretion by awarding fees in excess of amounts paid under the contract. The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's fee award and held that the Holder Rule did not limit the plaintiff's recovery of those attorney's fees.

In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeal adopted a narrow definition of "recovery" that is limited to consequential damages even though the history of the term's statutory and judicial usage fails to adopt any such limitation. Op. 23. It added that capping attorney's fees would frustrate the Holder Rule's apparent purpose of helping consumers enforce their rights in court. Op. 19–24. The court thus adopted its own reading of the Holder Rule

as permitting recovery of attorney's fees far beyond amounts paid under the contract.

Along with refusing to apply the Holder Rule's plain meaning, the Court of Appeal also refused to give any deference to the FTC's contrary view of its own regulation—one that adheres to the regulation's clear import. The Court of Appeal held that the Rule Confirmation "was not an exercise" of [the FTC's] substantive expertise" or the product of its "fair and considered judgment," and thus no Auer deference was warranted. Op. 30-31.

Having determined that the "Holder Rule cap does not include attorney's fees within its limit on recovery" and that "the FTC's interpretation to the contrary is not entitled to deference," the Court of Appeal saw fit to affirm the plaintiff's entire award. Op. 33. The Court of Appeal did not reach any preemption analysis between the Holder Rule and California Civil Code § 1459.5 because its interpretation meant there was no conflict between the two.²

This Court granted TDAF's timely petition for review.

² The preemption issue is therefore not before this Court, and this Court should not reach the question of whether the Holder Rule preempts § 1459.5.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal presents legal questions that this Court reviews de novo. See California Bldg. Indus. Assn. v. Bay Area Air Quality Mgmt. Dist. (2015) 62 Cal. 4th 369, 381; see also Carmona v. Div. of Indus. Safety (1975) 13 Cal. 3d 303, 310 ("The interpretation of a regulation, like the interpretation of a statute, is, of course, a question of law."); Yamaha Corp. of Am. v. State Bd. of Equalization (1998) 19 Cal. 4th 1, 8 ("The standard for judicial review of agency interpretation of law is the independent judgment of the court, giving deference to the determination of the agency appropriate to the circumstances of the agency action.").

ARGUMENT

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