S267576

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

TANIA PULLIAM,

Respondent,

v.

TD AUTO FINANCE, LLC

Petitioner.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION FIVE CASE NO. B293435

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROSNER, BARRY & BABBITT, LLP

Hallen D. Rosner (SBN 109740)

hal@rbblawgroup.com

*Arlyn L. Escalante (SBN 272645)

arlyn@rbblawgroup.com

Michael A. Klitzke (SBN 299765)

michael@rbblawgroup.com

10085 Carroll Canyon Road, Suite 100

San Diego, California 92131

(858) 348-1005 / Fax: (858) 348-1150

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF AND RESPONDENT **Tania Pulliam**

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

Pulliam found that "given the informal nature of the FTC's consideration of the issue— one that followed a request for comments that did not mention attorneys' fees," the confirmation did not "truly represent the FTC's "'fair and considered judgment' [necessary] to receive ... deference." (Pulliam, at p. 566, citing Kisor, at p. 2416.)

The *Pulliam* court found it significant that the FTC had not previously spoken on the issue of attorney's fees and chose to express its opinion without seeking formal input. Had the FTC issued a modification based on an analysis of submitted data, or after consideration of arguments submitted in response to an express notice, it would have made a stronger case for deference. Instead, the FTC, based on no data and limited argument, spoke on an issue on which it had previously remained silent for decades, and had not given notice of an intent to speak.

This falls short of the type of considered analysis entitled to dispositive deference. "[W]hether a court should give such deference depends in significant part upon the interpretive method used and the nature of the question at issue." (Barnhart v. Walton (2002) 535 U.S. 212, 221-222.) This is particularly so when the issue involved is not exclusively one of federal law, but rather an issue of the intersection of federal law and state law of remedies. (Cf. Kisor, supra, 139 S.Ct. at p. 2417 ["Some interpretive issues may fall more naturally into a judge's bailiwick. Take one requiring the elucidation of a simple common-law property term [citation], or one concerning the

award of an attorney's fee, see W. Va. Highlands Conservancy, Inc. v. Norton (4th Cir. 2003) 343 F.3d 239."] emphasis added.)

Although the agency that promulgated a rule is *presumed* to be in a better position to reconstruct its original meaning, *Kisor* specifies that same presumption "works less well when lots of time has passed between the rule's issuance and its interpretation." (*Kisor*, 139 S.Ct at 2412.) A court must make an independent inquiry into whether the character and context of the agency interpretation entitles it to controlling weight. (*Id.* at 2416.)

Here, we have a 44-year gap between the Rule's promulgation and the comments limiting its consumer protections. The comments should not be presumed to be the FTC's original intent. Further, the comments, adopting *Lafferty* II's reasoning from a year earlier, are also not within the bounds of reasonable interpretation for two other reason: (1) they effectively nullify the Rule's original intent to allow consumers to bring affirmative suits against creditors by barring consumers from any award of attorneys' fees and costs from a holder; and (2) they specifically limit state laws that intend to build on the Rule's protections – this is the opposite of the Rule's regulatory history which, as mentioned above, specifically encouraged states to build on the Rule and develop their own laws in furtherance of the Rule's purpose. (40 Fed.Reg. 53521 ["this rule will serve as a model for further state legislation and give states which lack legislation the impetus to act." and 41 Fed.Reg. 20024

["Appropriate statutes, decisions, and rules in each jurisdiction will control."].)

C. The comments resulted in unfair surprise.

Pulliam correctly found that although the FTC's position taken in the Rule confirmation was not exactly a change in interpretation – as the FTC had not previously interpreted the rule at all – it did "in fact, address an issue never previously addressed, and undermined the existing practice in those jurisdictions in which attorney fees in excess of the cap had been, and were being, imposed as a matter of course." (Pulliam, at p. 420.)

The holder clause is a notice to creditors, sellers and consumers that all three parties will be regulated according to the Rule – it is not just a notice to consumers as TDAF posits. The new interpretation of the holder clause's second sentence thus came as a significant surprise to consumers and anyone involved in the sales transactions governed by the Rule. So much so, that our Legislature was compelled to act. As the legislative history of Civil Code section 1459.5 makes clear, prior to the *Lafferty II* opinion in 2018, California lower courts and courts of appeal (in unpublished decisions) interpreted the Rule the same way the *Pulliam* court interpreted it. (See Sen. Rules Com. Rep. on Assem. Bill No. 1821, (2019-2020 Reg. Sess.) June 12, 2019, pp. 4-5 [citing unpublished opinion from Fourth Appellate District].)

The FTC's 2019 interpretation, mirroring *Lafferty II*, is an about-face of the Rule's application in California and other

jurisdictions. The FTC's comments are not based on the reasoned analysis necessary for the reinterpretation of a longstanding rule.

Ultimately, *Pulliam* found that because the FTC's comments are not entitled to deference, and because *Lafferty II's* interpretation of the Rule was wrong, Civil Code section 1459.5 was consistent with the Rule. (*Pulliam*, at p. 422.) The *Pulliam* court's interpretation of the Rule is consistent with our Legislature's desire and responsibility to protect California consumers. (See Civ. Code § 1459.5.) *Pulliam* should be affirmed, and as further discussed below, this Court may find additional reasons to disregard the FTC's conflicting position on the Rule's application to attorneys' fees.

IV. The FTC exceeded its authority by attempting to bar states from passing laws on the availability of attorneys' fees under their own statutes.

California has the absolute power to pass Section 1459.5 to protect consumers by allowing them to sue holders and recover attorneys' fees and costs under state law. The Rule and its contemporaneous comments specifically provide that nothing in the Rule is meant to supplant state law: "Appropriate statutes, decisions, and rules in each jurisdiction control." (41 Fed.Reg. 20024.) In contrast, the FTC's 2019 comments do just that – they supplant state law.

California "has a legitimate and compelling interest in preserving a business climate free of fraud and deceptive practices." (*Diamond Multimedia Sys., Inc., supra,* 19 Cal.4th at p. 1064.) With the Rule, the FTC established a baseline for

consumer protection – to discourage unfair and deceptive practices and allow consumers to recover what they paid under the contract from the holder through affirmative litigation. By its own regulatory history, states were then free to expand consumer protections as they saw fit. (40 Fed.Reg. 53521 ["this rule will serve as a model for further state legislation and give states which lack legislation the impetus to act." and 41 Fed.Reg. 20024 ["Appropriate statutes, decisions, and rules in each jurisdiction will control."].) California has every right to allow the recovery of attorneys' fees when consumers bring state law claims, based on the seller's misconduct, against a holder to recover what they are owed under the contract. (See *Jankey v*. Lee (2012) 55 Cal.4th 1038 1038, 1054 (Jankey) ["Absent congressional intervention, California has every right to adopt whatever [attorney] fee regime it deems appropriate upon invocation of state law remedies."].)

Contrary to the Rule, the 2019 comments seek to block states from passing further protections, such as the award of statutory attorneys' fees from a holder, if they stem from the seller's misconduct. (84 Fed.Reg., *supra*, at p. 18713. ["We conclude that if a federal or state law separately provides for recovery of attorneys' fees *independent of claims or defenses arising from the seller's misconduct*, nothing in the Rule limits such recovery."], emphasis added.)

But the FTC is not authorized by Congress to block state law, while California *can* enact its own consumer protection statutes as our Legislature did with section 1459.5. (See

California State Bd. of Optometry v. F.T.C. (D.C. Cir. 1990) 910 F.2d 976, 980 ["There is nothing in the language of [the FTC Act] to indicate that Congress intended to authorize the FTC to reach the 'acts or practices' of States acting in their sovereign capacities... We can find nothing in the language or history of subsequently adopted amendments to support a finding that Congress has expanded the FTC's jurisdiction to embrace state action."].)

The FTC cannot block California from enacting greater protections for its consumers. (See *Cisneros v. U.D. Registry*, *Inc.* (1995) 39 Cal.App.4th 548, 577 [California's decision to offer greater protection to the consumer in a statute that provides for attorney's fees to whichever side prevails does not conflict with federal law.].) State law could be preempted by a federal agency's regulations only when compliance with inconsistent state law would result in a *violation* of the regulation. (*Id.* at p. 578 [California's law was not preempted because it was not in violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act.].)

The FTC's 2019 comments overstep the FTC's authority by attempting to limit state law without the rightful authorization from Congress. These comments cannot preempt state law, much less state law which does not violate the Rule, and indeed seeks to further the purpose behind the Rule.

The FTC Act was not intended to exclusively occupy the consumer protection field or override parallel state efforts to protect consumers:

[The Act] is not intended to occupy the field or in any way to preempt State or local agencies from carrying out consumer protection or other activities within their jurisdiction which are also within the expanded jurisdiction of the Commission.

Where cases of consumer fraud of a local nature which affect commerce are being effectively dealt with by State or local government agencies, it is the Committee's intent that the Federal Trade Commission should not intrude.

(The State Action Exemption and Antitrust Enforcement Under the Federal Trade Commission Act (1976) 89 Harv. L. Rev. 715, 751, citing H.R. REP. NO. 1107, 93d Cong., 2d Sess. 49-50 (1974).) This indicates that states are not to be prevented from carrying on parallel efforts to protect consumers.

Courts that have looked to the FTC Act have agreed with this analysis. "It is clear that Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act does not preempt state laws dealing with deceptive trade practices." (Double Eagle Lubricants, Inc. v. State of Texas (N.D.Tex.1965) 248 F.Supp 515, 517, appeal dismissed, (1966) 384 U.S. 434.) Rather, the regulation of business activity by the FTC and the states has a history of co-existence. (See, American Financial Services v. FTC (D.C.Cir.1985) 767 F.2d 957, cert. denied (1986) 475 U.S. 1011.)

As pointed out above, in its Statement and Basis of Purpose for the Rule, the FTC *encouraged* the adoption of state consumer protection laws and specifically commented that state legislation and decisional law controls interpretation of the Rule. (41 Fed.Reg. 20024.) This is because problems in the marketplace go

beyond the enforcement capabilities of the federal government. (See Dee Pridgen, Consumer Protection and the Law, § 3.02[1] (1986).) As such, the FTC's comments blocking state laws on attorneys' fees were beyond the FTC's authorization, contrary to the FTC's stated goals, and cannot be used to preempt section 1459.5. *Spikener* should be overruled.

V. Because the FTC's comments exceed its authority and are not owed deference, this Court should find that section 1459.5 is not preempted.

The legislative record of Civil Code section 1459.5 clarifies it was intended to ensure "fairness and legal recourse to defrauded consumers." As explained by our Legislature, from 1975 until *Lafferty II*'s publication in 2018, courts in California routinely found holders liable for consumers' attorneys' fees and costs under California's fee-shifting consumer protection statutes, as fees and costs are not considered part of the consumer's "recovery." Section 1459.5 aligns with the history, purpose, and intent of the Rule, and reflects California's interest in protecting its consumers and deterring fraud.

Section 1459.5 is not preempted because the FTC is not authorized to bar state law, much less through comments that did not go through rulemaking procedures, and section 1459.5 is also not preempted through conflict or obstacle preemption. In 1975, the FTC explicitly left it up to the states to craft their own

⁹Assembly Floor Analysis, available at: http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billAnalysisClient.xhtml?bill _id=201920200AB1821

statutes that support the intent of the Rule, and that is exactly what Section 1459.5 does. This Court should affirm *Pulliam* and disagree with the *Spikener* to find section 1459.5 is not preempted.

Spikener did not analyze whether the FTC had the authority to block state law. In finding that section 1459.5 was preempted, the holding in Spikener, mainly relying on Olszewski v. Scripps Health (2003) 30 Cal.4th 798, erroneously found Section 1459.5 could not be reconciled with the FTC's 2019 comments and was thus conflict-preempted. (Spikener, at pp. 161-163.) Olszewski is the wrong case to focus on because there, as a condition for accepting federal funds, California had agreed to abide by requirements imposed by federal law. (Olszewski, supra, 30 Cal.4th at p. 817.) This Court found the California law did not abide by the explicit conditions set by Congress for Medicare funding and thus was in direct conflict with the federal law. (Id. at pp. 822-824.) Olszewski does not apply to our facts.

There is no physical impossibility in complying with the FTC's minimum protections and California's more robust ones. In both Viva! Internat. Voice for Animals v. Adidas Promotional Retail Operations, Inc. 41 Cal.4th 929 (Viva) and Jankey, supra, this Court turned to legislative history to determine whether the federal law intended to preempt state law or whether the laws contemplated that states would expand on those protections and thus insulated state law from preemption. (Viva, supra, 41 Cal.4th at p. 941; Jankey, supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 1050.) Viva found no conflict or obstacle preemption, as it was not physically

impossible to simultaneously comply with both federal law, which as a floor matter, in its Endangered Species Act allowed kangaroo trade, and state law, which imposed a higher standard and prohibited the trade. (*Viva*, *supra*, at p. 944.) *Viva* found that although there was no current federal regulation of kangaroo, that did not preempt further state efforts to protect endangered species. (*Id.* at p. 950.)

In Jankey, this Court found no conflict or obstacle preemption of a state law that allows reciprocal attorneys' fees for suits brought to enforce disability rights, even though similar statutes under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) only allow attorneys' fees for prevailing plaintiffs. (Jankey, supra, at pp. 1053-1056.) The court found that the ADA insulated further state action, and that the state law did not conflict with or pose a barrier to congressional objectives even though the state law allowed defendants to recover attorney fees and that was not in furtherance of disability rights – plaintiffs had the option of proceeding with only the federal claim, or adding the state claim which exposed them to reciprocal fees. (Id.)

In *Viva*, this Court also found that "every action falls within one of three possible federal categories: an action may be prohibited, it may be authorized, or it may be neither prohibited nor authorized." (*Viva*, *supra*, at p. 952.) Here, the Rule itself simply does not prohibit or authorize the recovery of attorneys' fees when a consumer must sue a holder under state law to recover what the consumer paid under the contract. As discussed above, this would have been an overstep of the FTC's authority.

The *Spikener* court was wrong in concluding that the comments' "clear intent to prohibit states from authorizing a recovery that exceeds" the amounts paid on the contract must be followed by state law. (*Spikener*, at p. 162.) As discussed above, there is no congressional authorization to support that conclusion.

Even if this Court were to give some deference to the FTC's contradictory 2019 comments, section 1459.5 would not be preempted because it does not conflict with the purpose and policy behind the Rule itself – the protection of consumers against deceptive and unfair business practices, and California's equally legitimate and compelling interest to protect its consumers. For all the above reasons this Court should affirm *Pulliam*, and further find section 1459.5 is not preempted by the FTC's 2019 comments.

VI. Practical considerations not considered by TDAF.

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